Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1778 (2008) 1640-1652



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Biochimica et Biophysica Acta

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bbamem



### Review Membrane interactions of G proteins and other related proteins

### Oliver Vögler<sup>a</sup>, Juana M. Barceló<sup>a</sup>, Catalina Ribas<sup>b</sup>, Pablo V. Escribá<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Molecular Cell Biomedicine, Department of Biology-IUNICS, Universitat de les Illes Balears, E-07122 Palma de Mallorca, Spain

<sup>b</sup> Departamento de Biología Molecular and Centro de Biología Molecular "Severo Ochoa", Universidad Autónoma de Madrid-CSIC, 28049 Madrid, Spain

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 11 December 2007 Received in revised form 1 March 2008 Accepted 12 March 2008 Available online 19 March 2008

Keywords: G proteins Ras proteins GRK Protein-lipid interaction Posttranslational lipid modifications Membrane lipid structure Cell signaling

#### ABSTRACT

Guanine nucleotide-binding proteins, G proteins, propagate incoming messages from receptors to effector proteins. They switch from an inactive to active state by exchanging a GDP molecule for GTP, and they return to the inactive form by hydrolyzing GTP to GDP. Small monomeric G proteins, such as Ras, are involved in controlling cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis, and they interact with membranes through isoprenyl moieties, fatty acyl moieties, and electrostatic interactions. This protein-lipid binding facilitates productive encounters of Ras and Raf proteins in defined membrane regions, so that signals can subsequently proceed through MEK and ERK kinases, which constitute the canonical MAP kinase signaling cassette. On the other hand, heterotrimeric G proteins undergo co/post-translational modifications in the alpha (myristic and/ or palmitic acid) and the gamma (farnesol or geranylgeraniol) subunits. These modifications not only assist the G protein to localize to the membrane but they also help distribute the heterotrimer ( $G\alpha\beta\gamma$ ) and the subunits generated upon activation (G $\alpha$  and G $\beta\gamma$ ) to appropriate membrane microdomains. These proteins transduce messages from ubiquitous serpentine receptors, which control important functions such as taste, vision, blood pressure, body weight, cell proliferation, mood, etc. Moreover, the exchange of GDP by GTP is triggered by nucleotide exchange factors. Membrane receptors that activate G proteins can be considered as such, but other cytosolic, membranal or amphitropic proteins can accelerate the rate of G protein exchange or even activate this process in the absence of receptor-mediated activation. These and other protein-protein interactions of G proteins with other signaling proteins are regulated by their lipid preferences. Thus, G protein-lipid interactions control the features of messages and cell physiology.

© 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introd	uction	1641												
2.	Small monomeric G protein structure and their interaction with the plasma membrane														
	2.1.	Lipid modification of Ras proteins and targeting to the plasma membrane.	1641												
	2.2.	Ras signaling from platforms other than the plasma membrane	1642												
	2.3.	Interaction of Ras with membranes	1642												
	2.4.	Ras signaling	1642												
	2.5.	The role of protein–lipid interactions and malignant mutations in Ras	1642												
3.	Hetero	ptrimeric G protein–lipid interactions	1643												
	3.1.	GPCR activation of heterotrimeric G proteins.	1643												
	3.2.	Lipid modifications of G proteins	1643												
		3.2.1. Myristoylation of G proteins	1643												
		3.2.2. Palmitoylation of G proteins	1644												
		3.2.3. Isoprenylation of G proteins	1644												
	3.3.	Biophysical properties of membranes on heterotrimeric G protein signaling	1644												
	3.4.	Effects of G proteins on biophysical membrane properties	1645												
	3.5.	Subcellular localization of G proteins	1647												
	3.6.	Receptor-independent activators of G protein signaling	1647												
	3.7.	Subcellular localization of GPR-containing proteins and membrane interactions	1648												

E-mail address: pablo.escriba@uib.es (P.V. Escribá).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author: Department of Biology, University of the Balearic Islands, Ctra. de Valldemossa km 7.5, E-07122 Palma de Mallorca, Spain. Tel.: +34 656 186154; fax: +34 971173184.

<sup>0005-2736/\$ –</sup> see front matter 0 2008 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2008.03.008

4.	Conclusions																					 							1649
Ackı	nowledgements																					 						•	1649
Refe	rences		•		•			•		•	•			•		•			•	 •		 	•	•	 •		•	•	1649

#### 1. Introduction

The cell membrane provides a structure that functions as a platform for the assembly of many signal transduction pathways, and that provides an additional level of regulation in cell signaling networks. The complex dynamic structure of the plasma membrane permits lipid–lipid and lipid–protein interactions, as well as the interaction of lipid–protein complexes with the submembrane cytoskeleton. The existence of membrane microdomains adds further complexity to such interactions, as well as the messages propagated in cells through G proteins and other non-permanent (extrinsic) membrane proteins.

Here, we aim to review the current understanding of the role of membrane interactions in the activity of G proteins and their relevant partners. These abundant membrane-bound receptor-coupled amphitropic proteins constitute the first elements, following receptor activation, in various key intracellular signaling pathways. Both their interactions with membrane lipids and their lipid co/post-translational modifications permit the regulation of protein function in a highly versatile manner.

Over and above the direct involvement of the alpha subunits of heterotrimeric G proteins in signal transduction, a large number of different GTP/GDP-binding proteins are present in eukaryotic cells. At least five distinct families have been recognized and they also include elongation factors active in protein biosynthesis, subunits of the signal recognition particle (SRP) and its receptor, the ADP-ribosylation factor (ARF) family, and the products of the Ras gene family [1]. The first part of this review will mainly focus on the Ras family of proteins as small monomeric G proteins, their lipid modifications and interactions with membranes, and their relevance in malignant transformation. The second part summarizes our current knowledge of the interactions between heterotrimeric G proteins and membranes as well as the role of G protein modulators on these interactions and G protein activity. This review highlights the relevant roles of membrane lipids and lipid structures on the localization and activity of G proteins. These interactions are relevant in the context of the physiology of cells, and their alteration may lead to pathologies whose treatment could be addressed by modifying membrane lipid composition and structure through so-called membrane-lipid therapy.

# 2. Small monomeric G protein structure and their interaction with the plasma membrane

Ras and Ras-like proteins are abundant small monomeric GTPases found mainly at the inner surface of the plasma membrane, and are key elements in complex and crucial cell signaling events. Members of this family include Ras, Rap1, Rap2, R-Ras, Ral, Rheb, M-Ras, and TC21, which all display distinct signaling properties [2]. At the plasmamembrane, these proteins function as molecular switches that initiate and regulate multiple signal transduction pathways. Their fundamental role is in coupling external stimuli with cytoplasmic and nuclear targets, and their activation depends on their association with growth factor receptors. In this way, they can regulate cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis [3].

Mammalian Ras proteins have a molecular weight of 21 kDa and, except for the K-Ras isoforms with 188 amino acids, they all contain 189 amino acids. Mammalian cells contain three very similar Ras genes: H-ras, N-ras, and K-ras (with splice variants A and B). In this review, we will refer to Ras as the products of these three genes, even though one or the other may be predominant in different cell types. At the protein level Ras is present in all cells, although they were prominent in proliferating cells. Their structure can be divided into three domains [4]:

The G domain (amino acids 1–166) that is 95% conserved among the different isoforms. This region of the protein binds guanine nucleotides, contains the switch 1 and switch 2 loops, and it undergoes major conformational changes on GTP–GDP exchange. It also contains the binding surfaces for effectors, exchange factors, and GAPs (GTPaseactivating proteins).

The region containing the C-terminal 24–25 amino acids forms a poorly conserved HVR domain (hypervariable region). This amino acid sequence undergoes direct post-translational processing. And it is involved in plasma membrane anchoring, as well as the trafficking of newly synthesized and processed Ras from the cytosolic surface of the endoplasmic reticulum to the inner surface of the plasma membrane.

The C-terminal CAAX motif is a region that is post-translationally processed to generate an *S*-farnesyl cysteine carboxymethyl ester. The membrane anchor is completed by one (N-Ras, R-Ras, and K-Ras4B) or two (H-Ras) proximal *S*-palmitoylable cysteine residues or a polybasic domain of six lysine residues in K-Ras4B [[5–7], Silvius, 2002 #372]. The other isoform (R-Ras4B) is very likely palmitoylated [8]. The minimal membrane anchors tN, tH, and tK (t = targeting motif) are sufficient to traffic and anchor heterologous proteins to the plasma membrane.

The linker region of the HVR connects the anchor sequence with the N-terminal G-domain. As with the gamma subunit of heterotrimeric G proteins (see below), Ras proteins have the CAAX (C = cysteine, A = aliphatic, X = amino acid) isoprenylation motif at the carboxy terminus. This post-translational modification favors the anchoring of proteins to membranes, which modifies the lipid structure of the latter, creating non-lamellar prone regions. This increased H<sub>II</sub>-phase propensity favors the binding of isoprenyl moieties and induces segregation of membrane microdomains enriched in isoprenoids. Several Ras and Ras-like proteins are also palmitoylated near the farnesylated carboxy-terminus. The main divergence among Ras isoforms lies in the 24 C-terminal amino acid domain, where sequence identity falls to less than 15% [9]. This diversity provides the different isoforms of the Ras proteins with different propensities to interact with diverse plasma membrane lipid structures.

#### 2.1. Lipid modification of Ras proteins and targeting to the plasma membrane

The correct targeting of Ras to the inner surface of the plasma membrane requires a series of post-translational modifications at the protein's C-terminus. These reactions include attachment of the isoprenoid farnesyl by farnesyl transferase to a cysteine residue (in the case of H-, K-, and N-Ras) or geranylgeranylation by geranylgeranyl transferase (for N- and K-Ras). Farnesylation and geranylgeranylation both occur on the same cysteine residue (Cys-186), located four residues from the C terminus. If the CAAX box's last residue is Ser or Met, then the farnesyl moiety is attached and if instead it consists of a Leu, then geranylgeranyl is attached. All Ras isoforms preferentially undergo farnesylation, although in the presence of farnesylation inhibitors N-Ras and K-Ras can undergo geranylgeranylation [10]. If, in the CAAX box, the last residue is Ser or Met, then a farnesyl moiety is attached. If it is Leu, then a geranylgeranyl moiety is attached. H-Ras and N-Ras can also undergo palmitoylation and, while H-Ras has two palmitoylation sites (Cys-181 and Cys-184) and N-Ras has only one (Cys 181), K-Ras4B appears to lack a palmitoylation site. Both farnesylation and geranylgeranylation are important to target Ras to the cell membrane. Likewise, palmitoylation may also localize Ras to the plasma membrane, as well as participating in its specific microlocalization at the plasma membrane [7].

The consequences of farnesyl attachment are particularly important because prenylation is the first and indispensable step in the processing of Ras proteins. This processing includes the proteolytic removal of the last 3 amino acids followed by subsequent lipidic modifications that promote the association of Ras to intracellular membranes. In fact, Ras remains soluble without this initial modification. Besides initiating membrane attachment the farnesyl group seems to bind to specific membrane proteins [11], possibly enhancing Ras-membrane interactions or participating in the activation of Ras effector proteins. Experiments with mutant constructs of H-Ras with C-terminal palmitates but no isoprenoid, demonstrated that palmitates can nevertheless support substantial farnesyl-independent activity [12]. Therefore, palmitate seems to be more than just a strong form of membrane tether, and it may have unique and dynamic roles of its own.

While classic studies indicate that all RAS proteins rely on farnesylation and either palmitoylation or a stretch of polybasic amino acids for stable binding to membranes, it has been recently shown for N-RAS and K-Ras4A that mono-palmitoylation and farnesylation are not sufficient to direct stable cell-surface localization and that altered localization is achieved without changes in palmitoylation status [13]. A third motif that is present within the linker domain of all palmitoylated RAS HVRs is necessary for stabilizing localization to the plasma membrane. This motif comprises acidic residues that stabilize palmitoylation and basic amino acids likely to interact electrostatically with acidic phospholipids enriched at the cell surface.

The different Ras protein isoforms interact in different ways with the plasma membrane. On the one hand, H-Ras interacts transiently with lipid rafts when bound to GDP and it aggregates in cholesterolinsensitive, galectin-1-dependent, non-raft domains. On the other hand, K-Ras is clustered in cholesterol-insensitive, non-raft domains that differ from the activated H-Ras microdomains [14,15]. Electron microscopy and biochemical studies suggest a new model for the microorganization of Ras at the plasma membrane, whereby Ras promotes the molecular assembly of signaling microdomains. Recent NMR and neutron-diffraction spectroscopy studies of the biophysics of Ras membrane anchors, as well as those involving Molecular Dynamics simulations, confirmed that insertion of the lipid chains into the cell membrane is driven by hydrophobic interactions. However, once in place, the backbone peptide that is inserted into the lipid bilayer contributes to the stability of the complex. Moreover, there is emerging evidence that the palmitate anchors of Ras proteins may help drive the formation of signaling clusters by a combination of lipid-lipid and protein-lipid interactions with the plasma membrane [4].

#### 2.2. Ras signaling from platforms other than the plasma membrane

Ras proteins are captured by endosomal compartments from where a signal output can also be generated. Ectopically expressed mutant Ras proteins with defective anchoring sequences accumulate in Golgi and endoplasmic reticulum membranes, from where they are competent to generate a signal output. The physiological significance of these platforms is not known, and it is unclear whether they constitute important signaling platforms for endogenous Ras [4]. Nevertheless, there is evidence that lipid modifications such as isoprenylation and *N*- and *S*-acylation also play an important roles as specific recognition elements for protein–protein interactions, and as hydrophobic switches. As such, they permit temporal regulation of the docking of Ras to subcompartments like lipid rafts, caveolae, and other cellular localizations. Unlike farnesylation, palmitoylation of Ras-like proteins is reversible and it therefore constitutes a key regulatory element.

#### 2.3. Interaction of Ras with membranes

The relevance of this issue originates from various sources. The anchors in the hypervariable region may target the Ras isoforms to specific microdomains of the plasma membrane with different lipid and protein content. However, it is fundamental to determine whether these different micro-environments influence Ras signaling. Selective microdomain localization based on the structural differences in membrane targeting domains may account for the extensive biological differences between Ras isoforms. Therefore, insights from Ras may extend to the microlocalization and regulation of other lipidmodified signaling proteins. Fluorescent-labeled probes with Ras C-terminal anchors are increasingly being used as tools for SPT (single particle tracking) and FRET (fluorescence resonance energy transfer) to explore the dynamics of micro- and nano-compartmentalization in the plasma membrane. A recent study illustrates the use of these techniques to find a new switch region that regulates H-ras membrane orientation and signal output [16]. This example also illustrates how the plasma membrane acts as a semi-neutral interaction partner by spatially constraining signal conformations.

Interestingly, another recent study shows that none of the 121 genes found to be regulated uniquely by Ras signals emanating from plasma membrane microdomains is specifically controlled by lipid raft-anchored Ras [17].

#### 2.4. Ras signaling

The plasma membrane provides a platform for the assembly of proteins that belong to many signal transduction pathways and therefore, it has the capacity to regulate cell signaling networks. An initial step in the transduction of signals through Ras involves the interaction of these G proteins with growth factor receptors at the cell surface. The next steps involve interactions with exchange factors and specific proteins that will transduce the signals in a cascade of events that leads to the activation/inhibition of transcription factors and hence, the regulation of different cellular processes. Ras proteins activate several signal transduction pathways that control gene expression and that are involved in the regulation of critical cell processes (such as cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis [3]) and cytoskeleton organization. Indeed, Ras is the common upstream molecule in several signaling pathways including the Raf/MEK/Erk cascade (also known as the MAP Kinase or MAPK pathway), PI3K/Akt, Ral/MEKK1/JNK, and PLC/ DAG/PKC [18]. While the three highly homologous Ras isoforms can each activate these signal transduction pathways, they display different affinities for each of them [19]. The best known of these signaling mechanisms is the MAPK (mitogen activated protein kinase) pathway, which involves a series of cytoplasmic serine/threonine kinases. The cascade is activated by ligand binding to receptors that provoke the posttranslational modification of Ras (through palmitoylation) and its translocation to the membrane. Following the binding of cytokines, growth factors, or mitogens to their appropriate cell membrane receptors, activation of the Shc/Grb2/SOS coupling complex occurs, causing the inactive Ras to exchange GDP for GTP, to undergo a conformational change, and to become active. The GTP-bound active Ras can then recruit Raf kinase to the cell membrane and this localization of Ras at the membrane is crucial for its biological activity. Thus, the membrane binding of Ras enables it to act as a GTP-dependent membrane-localized docking site for Raf, among other downstream effectors [20].

## 2.5. The role of protein-lipid interactions and malignant mutations in Ras

The role of each specific lipid modification of Ras has mainly been inferred from mutant Ras proteins that entirely lack one or all three of these lipids. The decreased membrane binding observed with these mutants indicates that their primary role is in membrane binding. It is certainly of great interest that Ras protein–lipid interactions control cell proliferation/differentiation pathways, as key elements in signal transduction processes. The *ras* genes were initially discovered due to their highly oncogenic potential in retroviruses or human oncogenes. Variants of the different isoforms were independently characterized as the transforming genes present in many human and animal tumors. Different mutation frequencies have been observed between the *ras* genes in human cancer, in which K-Ras is the most frequently mutated Ras isoform. Given the abundance of Ras as a membrane-associated protein and its key role in membrane receptor signaling events, it is hardly surprising that mutations which affect the Ras proteins have been detected in a number of cancers including pancreatic, breast, colon, and non-small cell lung cancer. While tumorigenesis requires multiple hits, carcinogenesis involving Ras requires little more than an increase in Ras levels or mutations that lock Ras into its activated state. Nevertheless, there is increasing evidence that structural changes which transform Ras into an oncogenic protein are not sufficient to induce cancer [21].

The signal transduction activity of Ras proteins can be altered by both cell membrane lipids and by their own lipidic modifications. Posttranslational modifications of Ras such as farnesylation, geranylgeranylation, and palmitoylation are important as they represent sites for therapeutic intervention. Indeed, mutant Ras proteins that bind poorly to the membrane have a low transforming potential [7,22]. These facts impelled the development of inhibitors of farnesyltransferase as potential antitumor drugs in the 90s. Although some such compounds showed some activity against cancer, most failed to have any real effect because the inhibition of farnesyltransferase provokes the modification of Ras with gerenylgeraniol, a closely related isoprenoid that also enables membrane binding [10]. In addition, it was also found that a non-farnesylated H-Ras protein can be palmitoylated and can trigger potent differentiation and transformation [12]. However, myristoylation of both wild-type and activated Ras is sufficient to produce a protein with transforming potential [23], again lending support to the view that membrane localization is a key element in transformation by Ras.

#### 3. Heterotrimeric G protein-lipid interactions

As peripheral membrane proteins, G proteins interact with the inner side of the plasma membrane and form part of the signaling cascade activated by G protein-coupled receptors (GPCR). They are comprised of three subunits  $G\alpha$ ,  $G\beta$  and  $G\gamma$ , which are often closely associated with the intracellular domains of GPCRs. The binding of an extracellular agonist activates GPCRs, inducing a conformational change in its protein structure that leads to the activation of the corresponding heterotrimeric G protein. As a consequence, the  $G\alpha$ -subunit of the heterotrimeric complex exchanges bound GDP for GTP and subsequently dissociates from the GBy-dimer, enabling both molecular entities to regulate the activity of their specific effectors. During this process G proteins can be affected by lipid-protein interactions in several ways. First, like all membrane-associated proteins, the localization and function of G proteins is influenced by the biophysical properties of the membrane with which they interact. Second, the close interaction of G proteins with the membrane enables them to also modulate their immediate lipid environment, thereby modifying plasma membrane lipid structure and organization which in turn modulates binding of G proteins to membranes. Third, in order to ensure tight membrane attachment, the different subunits of G proteins undergo distinct co- or post-translational lipid modifications. The nature of the lipid moiety attached in this process dictates the specific requirements of the optimal membrane lipid environment necessary for its correct localization and activity. This section of the review focuses on the variety of interactions between membrane lipids and proteins reflecting the complexity of their relationship and the multitude of possible regulatory processes involved in G protein-mediated signal transduction.

#### 3.1. GPCR activation of heterotrimeric G proteins

A large number of hormones, neurotransmitters, chemokines, and sensory stimuli exert their effects on cells by binding to GPCRs.

Heterotrimeric G proteins located at the cytoplasmic face of the plasma membrane are the intracellular partners of these receptors in the generation of the cellular responses to extracellular signals. When a ligand binds to a GPCR the receptor acts as a guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF), activating a  $G\alpha$  subunit and promoting the release of GDP and the binding of GTP. These modifications cause conformational changes in G $\alpha$  that induce its dissociation from the G $\beta\gamma$ dimer. As a result, both the GTP-bound  $G\alpha$  subunit and the  $G\beta\gamma$  dimer independently modulate dowstream effectors. The  $G\alpha$  subunit has intrinsic GTPase activity that can hydrolyze GTP to GDP, which induces the re-association of the inactive  $G\alpha$  subunit with a  $G\beta\gamma$  dimer, terminating the signal. Recently, as will be discussed in section 3.6, other proteins known as activators of G protein signaling (AGS) regulate G protein-mediated signals in the absence of receptor activation. Regulator of G protein signaling (RGS) proteins help accelerate the GTPase activity of  $G\alpha$  and the re-association of the inactive heterotrimer (Fig. 2). Thus,  $G\beta\gamma$  acts as a guanine-nucleotide dissociation inhibitor (GDI), since when bound to  $G\alpha$  it slows the spontaneous rate of GDP release [24]. The assembly of  $G\alpha$  to the  $G\beta\gamma$  subunit in its GDP-bound form allows  $G\alpha$  to associate with the plasma membrane and has an important role in its functional coupling to GPCRs. Lipid modifications of  $G\alpha$  subunits are important for their membrane localization. Indeed, it is known that the localization of the G protein heterotrimers to the plasma membrane involves multiple processes such as post-translational modifications, subunit assembly, and protein-membrane interactions [25-31]. As indicated below, Ga subunits can be N-myristoylated and/or Npalmitoylated, which helps define the localization of these proteins, although the presence of a fatty acyl moiety (e.g., myristic acid) is not sufficient to translocate  $G\alpha$  subunits from the cytosolic to membrane fractions [32–34]. Myristoylation and/or palmitoylation of  $G\alpha$  subunits not only regulate their targeting to specific cell membrane regions but also, they regulate their interaction with other signaling proteins [35–38]. Nevertheless, all G<sub>γ</sub> subunits are C-terminally prenylated [39] and this lipid modification is also important for the proper membrane localization of the  $G\beta\gamma$  dimer.

#### 3.2. Lipid modifications of G proteins

Lipidation of heterotrimeric G proteins  $(G\alpha\beta\gamma)$  involves the covalent binding of a hydrophobic molecule to the signaling protein. Three different types of lipid modification have been described in the case of heterotrimeric G proteins, namely myristoylation, palmitoylation and isoprenylation. These moieties participate in G protein–lipid interactions and they are involved in the translocation of G proteins to membranes and their further mobilization to different membrane microdomains.

#### 3.2.1. Myristoylation of G proteins

Myristoylation is a co-translational modification that involves the covalent attachment of the saturated fatty acid myristate to a protein via an amide bond (N-acylation) [40]. In contrast to S-acylation and palmitoylation that are characterized by a labile thioester linkage, the amide bond represents a comparatively stable chemical structure and it is therefore considered to be irreversible. Myristoylation is catalyzed by the enzyme *N*-myristoyltransferase and it is specific to the N-terminal glycine in proteins. The absolute requirement for a free glycine residue at the N-terminus of the substrate protein implies that the initiating methionine must be eliminated by a methionyl amino peptidase prior to lipidation. However, a free N-terminal glycine residue alone is not sufficient to guarantee myristoylation, because substrate recognition also depends on the subsequent amino acid sequence. In particular, the nature of the sixth amino acid (considering methionine as the first) seems to be important in this context, and myristoylated proteins usually contain a serine or threonine residue at this position [41]. Consequently, subunits of the  $G_i$  family including  $G\alpha_{i1}$ <sub>13</sub>,  $G\alpha_0$ ,  $G\alpha_7$ , that contain a Gly<sup>2</sup>/Ser<sup>6</sup> motif, are potential substrates for *N*-myristoylation, while the subunits of the G<sub>s</sub>, G<sub>q</sub> and G<sub>12</sub> families are not. Although *N*-myristoyltransferase almost exclusively catalyzes the attachment of myristate (C14:0), it has also been found to transfer other acyl fatty acids under certain circumstances, such as lauryl [C12:0], (*cis*-delta 5)-tetradecaenoyl [C14:1( $\Delta$ 5)] and (*cis,cis*-delta 5, delta 8)tetradecadienoyl [C14:2( $\Delta$ 5,8)] [42]. This relaxation in specificity is confirmed by the different lipid modifications other than myristoylation observed at the N-terminal glycine of G $\alpha$ <sub>t</sub> (transducin). However, this exceptional diversity of lipid modifications on Gly<sub>2</sub> appears to be specific to retinal rod cells [43,44].

Lipid modifications assist peripheral proteins in their docking to membranes by inserting a hydrophobic moiety that serves as a membrane anchor. Indeed, mutations in  $G\alpha$  subunits that prevent *N*-myristoylation (Gly<sub>2</sub>  $\rightarrow$  Ala<sub>2</sub>) prevent protein binding to membranes [45,46]. Nevertheless, the presence of a myristoyl moiety is not sufficient for stable membrane attachment [47], and moreover the majority of  $G\alpha$  subunits are not myristoylated. Therefore, it is clear that this sort of lipid modification must also have another function besides simply enhancing the membrane affinity of a protein. For the G<sub>i</sub> family myristoylation is a precondition for palmitoylation [32,48], the secondary lipid modification found on  $G\alpha$  subunits. In this context, the role of the myristoyl group is to facilitate an initial contact with the membrane and to direct the  $G\alpha$  subunit to the palmitoylation compartment. At least in the case of  $G\alpha_t$ , another important function of myristoylation could be to maintain the N-terminal structure of the corresponding  $G\alpha$  subunit, as recently proposed [49].

#### 3.2.2. Palmitoylation of G proteins

Palmitoylation is a post-translational modification that consists in the covalent attachment of the saturated fatty acid palmitate to a protein via a thioester bond (S-acylation). In contrast to other covalent lipid modifications, palmitoylation is a very dynamic modification, because this bond is chemically labile and has been shown to be rapidly turned over in vivo [50,51]. Besides the palmitoylation of Ras proteins or GPCRs [52], this lipid modification also occurs on one or several cysteine residues within the first 20 amino acids of the N-terminal region of the G subunit, but the specific amino acid sequence required to facilitate palmitoylation has not yet been defined in detail. As an exception to the rule it was recently found that native  $G\alpha_s$  can also be palmitoylated at the N-terminal glycine (Gly2), and that this lipid modification occurs via N-acylation [53]. The apparent dual Gly<sub>2</sub>/Cys<sub>3</sub> palmitoylation of  $G\alpha_s$  is similar to the myristoylation/palmitoylation motif of the  $G\alpha_i$  family and it has functional consequences on signal transduction [54]. Generally, with the exception of  $\alpha_t$  and  $\alpha_{gust}$  all  $G\alpha$ subunits undergo palmitolylation, but neither the specific palmitoyltransferase that catalyzes the lipidation of mammalian  $G\alpha$  subunits nor the exact cellular site where this occurs have so far been discovered. Palmitoylation of membrane proteins has in fact been detected in several subcellular localizations and while palmitoylation of caveolin-1 [55] and transferrin receptor [56] appears to take place at the plasma membrane, that of viral polypeptides and glycoproteins seems to occur in the Golgi [57,58]. Other proteins are palmitoylated even earlier in their biosynthetic pathway (i.e. in the endoplasmatic reticulum [59]) and it is difficult to discern whether all these compartments are true sites of palmitoylation or whether they simply reflect the rapid intracellular transition through the vesicular system. Point mutations of  $G\alpha_s$  and  $G\alpha_q$  aimed at impairing binding to  $G\beta\gamma$ dimers not only inhibited trafficking to the plasma membrane but also their palmitoylation [60]. Conversely, restoring the plasma membrane localization of these mutants also restored palmitoylation. These results imply that  $G\alpha$  and  $G\beta\gamma$  most likely interact before  $G\alpha$  reaches the plasma membrane and that heterotrimer formation is a necessary part of the plasma membrane targeting signal for both entities. Disruption of the Golgi does not alter the plasma membrane localization or palmitoylation of  $G\alpha$  subunits [61,62], indicating that heterotrimer formation may take place in the endoplasmic reticulum.

#### 3.2.3. Isoprenylation of G proteins

Isoprenylation is a multi-step post-translational process that involves covalent attachment via a chemically stable thioether bond of either a farnesyl group, consisting of 3 isoprene repeats with a total of 15 carbon atoms, or a geranylgeranyl group of 4 isoprenes and a total of 20 carbon atoms. Isoprenylation is an irreversible lipid modification that has only been found on the G $\gamma$  subunit of heterotrimeric G proteins. In this context, farnesylation occurs in G $\gamma_1$ , G $\gamma_9$ , and G $\gamma_{11}$ , whereas the remaining 9 G $\gamma$  subunits are all geranylgeranylated [63].

Isoprenylation depends on the existence of a rather simple sequence at the C-terminus of the protein, the so-called CAAX box, which determines the substrate specificity for a farnesyl or geranylgeranyl transferase. This motif contains the cysteine to be modified (C), followed by two aliphatic amino acids (AA) and an amino acid at the C terminus (X), controlling the recognition by one of the two enzymes. If the last residue of the CAAX box is serine or methionin, then the preceeding cysteine is farnesylated, whereas in the case of leucine a geranylgeranyl moiety is attached. Isoprenylation takes place in the cytosol and the  $G\beta\gamma$  dimer then translocates to the endoplasmatic reticulum for further processing. In this cellular compartment, proteolysis of the three terminal -AAX amino acids is catalyzed by the endoprotease Ras-converting enzyme (Rce) [64], and the newly formed C-terminal cysteine with the isoprenyl modification becomes a substrate for isoprenylcysteine carboxyl methyltransferase (Icmt) [65]. The exact reason for this proteolysis and methylation is unknown (especially as this methylation is generally reversible), but it seems that carboxy methylation of the last amino acid further increases its hydrophobicity, thereby enhancing the membrane anchorage properties of the C-terminus. This might still make some sense in case of farnesylated Gy subunits, but the greater hydrophobicity of the geranylgeranyl moiety compared to the farnesyl group already makes it a strong membrane anchor that would not be expected to need further enhancement to bind tightly to the membrane [27]. Nevertheless, the tight association to intracellular membranes is not sufficient to target the G $\beta\gamma$  dimer to the plasma membrane, and isoprenylated proteins need additional targeting signals to shuttle from the endoplasmatic reticulum to the plasma membrane. In this context, it has been demonstrated that the subcellular localization of the GBy dimer is regulated by the presence of the  $G\alpha$  subunit and its trafficking pathway [66].

## 3.3. Biophysical properties of membranes on heterotrimeric G protein signaling

Membrane microviscosity, or its reciprocal parameter fluidity, was one of the first parameters used to demonstrate the relationship between the biophysical properties of the lipid bilayer and the activity of associated proteins [67]. Membrane fluidity depends on the lipid composition of the membrane, especially on the type of fatty acid moieties in the membrane phospholipids and the amount of cholesterol. In general, as the degree of unsaturated fatty acid moieties increases in membrane phospholipids, so does the fluidity of the membrane [68]. It has been shown that metabolic disorders or nutritional interventions can alter the lipid composition of the membrane and as a consequence, its fluidity [69,70]. In fact, diseases in which G protein-mediated signaling plays an important role, such as hypertension and Alzheimer disease, have been associated with altered membrane fluidity [71,72]. Although changes in membrane fluidity are obviously related to certain illnesses, this parameter is not very helpful in carrying out a profound characterization of the biophysical properties of the membrane. This is in part because it still considers the plasma membrane as a homogeneous structure, as depicted by the traditional Singer-Nicolson model.

While the lipid–protein interactions between G proteins and lamellar-prone membranes have been studied intensely [73], little attention has been paid to the potential interactions with nonlamellar-

prone membranes. Lipids with a propensity to form nonlamellar phases affect the physical properties of biomembranes by inducing alterations in the intrinsic curvature of the monolayer, in the lateral surface pressure, and in the hydration of membranes [74]. Cell membranes are usually rich in phosphatidylethanolamine (PE), a nonlamellar prone, inverted hexagonal (H<sub>II</sub>) phase inducing lipid that is mainly found at the inner face of the plasma membrane [75], and thus determines the properties of the normal site for G protein binding. The physiological amount of PE in natural membranes is sufficiently high to induce negative curvature strain in vivo, which might be stabilized by the presence of certain membrane proteins [76]. It has been demonstrated that the greater the hexagonal-phase propensity, the higher the affinity of heterotrimeric  $\alpha_i$  proteins for the membrane [25]. Consequently, membrane domains with enhanced negative curvature strain could act as a platform for the interaction of these peripheral proteins with other signaling proteins. This idea is in agreement with the observed loss of G proteins from plasma membranes after disruption of nonlamellar H<sub>II</sub> structures by daunorubicin [26].

As G protein-mediated signaling operates as a signal amplification cascade where every agonist-bound GPCR activates numerous G proteins, efficiency would be enhanced if a large number of inactive heterotrimeric G protein molecules were readily available in the proximity of the receptor. Indeed, an early study of signal transduction kinetics in human platelet membranes suggests that about one third of the  $\alpha_2$ -adrenergic receptors seem to be coupled to  $G\alpha_i$  prior to agonist binding [77]. In general, transmembrane peptides with  $\alpha$ -helical structures, such as the membrane-spanning regions of GPCRs, can promote the formation of hexagonal phases [78], and other data indicate that GPCRs seem to display similar lipid phase preferences as heterotrimeric G proteins. It was proposed that lipids with a negative spontaneous curvature favor the elongation of the G protein-coupled photoreceptor rhodopsin during the activation process. This was explained by the fact that they facilitated the conformational change of rhodopsin to its activated state in model membranes [79]. Moreover, measuring the interaction of this receptor and its corresponding G protein transducin ( $\alpha_t$ ) in lipid bilayers demonstrated that PE markedly increased receptor affinity for  $\alpha_t$  upon light activation, while the affinity of  $\alpha_t$  for dark-adapted rhodopsin remained unchanged [80]. By contrast, in pure lamellar PC bilayers the affinity of  $\alpha_t$  for light-activated rhodopsin is substantially lower. Retinal rod outer segment membranes, where rhodopsin is found, contain about 50% docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), which is a fatty acid with a strong propensity to induce curved structures [81]. Nevertheless, the observation that rhodopsin activation can also be supported by other non-lamellar lipids, such as the hexagonal-prone PE, indicates that the physical curvature stress induced by these lipids is more likely to facilitate the conformational change of this GPCR rather than a direct lipid-specific reaction between DHA and rhodopsin. In fact, a pronounced restructuring of membrane lipids during photoactivation of rhodopsin occurs, which provides strong evidence for its dynamic interaction with the lipid phase of the disc membranes [82]. It might be possible that GPCRs reorganize the lipid environment around them during agonist activation, and that the presence of nonlamellar-prone membrane lipids is indispensable for them to produce this conformational change. Thus, hexagonal phaseforming membrane lipids seem to fulfill a dual role in signal transduction, by inducing the co-localization of the first signaling components, and by participating in GPCR activation.

On the other hand, GPCRs and heterotrimeric G proteins have also been found in membrane domains with strong lamellar membrane organization, such as lipid rafts and caveolae. Lipid rafts are defined membrane regions in a liquid-ordered ( $l_0$ ) state and caveolae are a subtype of these microdomains, whose flask-shaped membrane invaginations are stabilized by a matrix of caveolin molecules that serve as scaffolds for a variety of different proteins of the GPCR signaling cascade [83]. For example, in cardiomyocytes the G protein-coupled  $\beta_2$ adrenoreceptor ( $\beta_2$ -AR) and G $\alpha_i$  were found in caveolae, although the  $\beta_1$ -AR and G $\alpha_s$  were predominantly present in non-caveolae regions of the plasma membrane of these cells [84]. Furthermore, the correct localization of the  $\beta_2$ -AR in caveolae was essential for efficient signaling of this receptor subtype [85]. In the case of the  $\beta_3$ -AR differential membrane localization might be even true for the two splice variants of this receptor, because there is evidence that the  $\beta_{3A}$ -AR but not the  $\beta_{3B}$ -AR resides in caveolae [86]. As a consequence, in CHO cells the  $\beta_{3A}$ -AR exclusively couples to  $G\alpha_s$ , whereas the  $\beta_{3B}$ -AR couples to both  $G\alpha_s$  and  $G\alpha_i$  [87], a coupling preference which can be easily eliminated by disruption of raft-like microdomains with filipin. Although G<sub>a</sub> has also been found enriched in detergent-resistant membrane areas of human platelets, this was only observed after activation of the corresponding signaling pathway by thrombin [88]. A similar activation-dependent translocation was also true for  $G\alpha_t$ , which only translocated to lipid rafts upon activation [89]. Together, these results indicate that membrane compartmentalization of GPCR signaling is obviously complex and influenced by several parameters, such as the type of GPCR or G protein, the downstream effectors, and maybe also the specific cell type. Consequently, lipid rafts and caveolae may enhance or attenuate interaction of specific signaling molecules by promoting or hindering their spatial proximity. In addition, interpretation of scientific literature is often difficult, because a considerable amount of published articles only discriminate these microdomains by their general physicochemical property in terms of "detergent-resistant" membrane areas or by experimental cholesterol depletion with B-cyclodextrin, which in fact would apply to both lipid-rafts and caveolae.

Biophysical studies demonstrated, that in contrast to G protein heterotrimers, the activated monomeric  $\alpha_i$ -subunit showed a marked preference for pure lamellar structures [25], which would provoke the rapid exit of activated  $\alpha_i$ -monomers from a receptor environment where the hexagonal-phase propensity is increased. Mobilization of the  $G\alpha$  protein subunit far from the receptor environment may facilitate its interaction with effector proteins (e.g. adenylyl cyclase) located in other membrane areas. This idea is further strengthened when considering that a large number of effector proteins are localized to lipid rafts. Both  $G\alpha_i$  and  $G\alpha_s$  have been found in lipid rafts [90] and some G protein subunits indeed partially co-localized with adenylyl cyclase in membrane structures containing caveolin [91]. However, most G proteins resided in irregular structures within the plasma membrane that have not been morphologically defined. When considered in conjunction with the finding that certain  $G\alpha$  subunits only translocate to lipid rafts upon activation, lipid rafts appear to represent platforms whose specific biophysical properties are able to enhance the effectiveness of the second step of the signaling cascade, trapping activated  $G\alpha$ -subunits and augmenting the spatial proximity between them and their effectors.

On the other hand, dissociated  $G\beta\gamma$ -dimers still maintain a high affinity for membranes with a hexagonal propensity [25], which may also influence their distribution in native membranes. The general observation that prenylated proteins are normally not localized to lipid rafts [92] has also been confirmed for  $G\beta\gamma$ -subunits, which are excluded from synthetic lipid rafts [35]. This indicates that the  $G\beta\gamma$ dimer most probably determines the lipid preference of heterotrimeric *G* proteins. In other words, the  $G\beta\gamma$ -dimer determines the preference of complete  $G\alpha\beta\gamma$  heterotrimers for the hexagonal-phase, thereby masking the lamellar membrane affinity of the  $G\alpha$ -subunit. Therefore, one of the functions of the  $G\beta\gamma$ -dimer could be to transport  $G\alpha$ -subunits to the vicinity of the receptor, making them available for immediate activation (Fig. 1).

#### 3.4. Effects of G proteins on biophysical membrane properties

The fact that the interaction between membrane lipids and proteins is not unilateral but that it occurs in both directions is often overlooked. It is obvious that the association of G proteins with the plasma membrane makes them susceptible to their lipid environment,



**Fig. 1.** Membrane structure and GPCR-associated signaling. (Upper panel) GPCRs (R) induce the formation of hexagonal-phases (H) in their vicinity and these nonlamellar membrane regions attract heterotrimeric (inactive) G proteins, driven by the  $G\beta\gamma$ -subunit. (Lower panel) Upon agonist (A) binding, several heterotrimeric G protein molecules are activated by one GPCR (R) molecule. Thus,  $G\alpha$ -subunits dissociate from the  $G\beta\gamma$ -dimers and they are targeted to special regions of the plasma membrane, such as lipid rafts, due to their greater affinity for bilayers with highly lamellar organized lipids. There, they may activate their corresponding effector proteins (E1).  $G\beta\gamma$ -dimers remain in nonlamellar-prone regions, where they can interact with their specific effectors (E2) and guide GRKs directly to the receptors. The latter would promote GPCR phosphorylation leading to receptor inactivation.

such that lipid-protein interactions are able to influence protein function. In turn, G proteins also seem to be capable of modulating lipid structure and the organization of the membrane with which they interact. An interesting property of the lipid moieties of  $G\gamma$  subunits was recently discovered given that Gy subunits are post-translationally lipidated with the isoprenoids farnesol or geranylgeraniol. These isoprenyl moieties alone have the propensity to segregate in a multidomain system formed by a lamellar crystalline (Lc) phase, and lipid structures enriched in isoprenoid form when added to model membranes containing PE [93]. In addition, they promote temperature-dependent growth of the hexagonal phase that can coexist within the lamellar Lc phase. Similar behavior could be observed in experiments with these isoprenyl moieties bound to the carboxyterminal peptide of the  $G\gamma_2$  subunit [30]. Therefore, it is likely that not only does the G $\beta\gamma$ -dimer display a preference for areas enriched in nonlamellar lipids in vivo, but that it is also actively involved in the formation or stabilization of microdomains with intrinsic negative curvature. It is tempting to speculate that these biophysical characteristics of the G $\beta\gamma$ -dimer could also be important for GPCR desensitization following agonist-mediated activation. Dissociated  $G\beta\gamma$ -dimers can bind to the GPCR kinases (GRKs) that phosphorylate and inactivate GPCRs. The preference of the  $G\beta\gamma$ -dimer for the nonlamellar membrane environment, where membrane receptors are also located, could direct these kinases to their target, provoking the termination of the signal initiated by agonist binding to the receptor (Fig. 1). This hypothesis is strongly supported by the involvement of membrane lipids other than PC in the regulation of GPCR phosphorylation and desensitization. Indeed, with the exception of PC, other membrane lipids that either provide nonlamellar propensity or a net charge to the bilayer can actually regulate GRK activity [94]. Notably, retinal GRK1 also has a farnesyl moiety covalently attached to its carboxy terminal domain, like the  $G\beta\gamma$ -dimer, and the presence of this isoprenoid group is essential for light-dependent membrane association of GRK1 [95]. A mutant unfarnesylated form of the kinase remains in the soluble fraction following light exposure and displays a reduced capacity to phosphorylate rhodopsin. In contrast, a mutant kinase bearing a more hydrophobic geranylgeranyl (C20) isoprenoid moiety was constitutively associated with the membrane, although it phosphorylated rhodopsin at a rate comparable to wild-type (farnesylated) GRK1 [95]. Thus, a specific in vivo modification (farnesylation) ensures that membrane association of GRK1 only occurs in the presence of its activated receptor substrate. This lipid modification of GRK, common to Ras proteins and the gamma subunit of G proteins, is reflected in the amino acid homology found in the carboxy-terminal region of all these proteins (Table 1). However, GRK 4 and 6 are palmitoylated rather than farnesylated [96,97], making it possible that these kinases are regulated in a different way by other membrane lipids.

In general, a palmitate moiety favors the localization of proteins in membrane areas with a highly ordered lamellar state  $(l_o)$ . Therefore, GRK 4 and 6 may have a stronger affinity for membrane domains with this biophysical property, in agreement with their localization in membrane regions of this kind, i.e. caveolae. However, targeting of GRKs to caveolae seems to depend rather on a direct interaction with caveolins than on the type of lipid modification. In fact, Carman et al.

Table 1

C-terminal region of various subunits of GRK,  $G\gamma$  and Ras proteins

Protein		C-terminal sequence												
GRK1	EL	NV	WRS	DGQMP	DD		MK	GIS	GG <mark>S</mark>	S <mark>S</mark> S	SK <mark>S</mark> G-		MCLVS	
Gγ <sub>7</sub>	DL	MS	YCE	QHARN	DP		-LLV	GVP	ASE	NPF	K <mark>DK</mark> KI		CIII	
Gy8	EL	LA	FCE	THAKD	DP		-LVT	PVP	AAE	NPF	R <mark>DK</mark> RI	F	CVLL	
Gy9	EI	KE	YVE	AQAGN	DP		-FLK	GIP	ED <mark>K</mark>	NPF	KEKGG	3	CLIS	
H-RAS	DLARS	SYGIE	YIE	TSAKT	RQGVE	DAFY	TLVR	EIR	HKLR	KLNPP	DESGE	GCMS	CKCVLS	
R-RAS	AFGAS	SHHVA	YFE	ASAKL	RLNVD	EAFE	QLVR	AVRI	(Y <mark>Q</mark> EQ	ELPPS	PP <mark>S</mark> AI	RKKG	GGCPCVLL	
	:		: .				:	:			•		*::	
~						1		··	,		•			

Consensus key: \* single, fully conserved residue (isoprenylation site); : conservation of strong groups; · conservation of weak groups; x homology for members of more than one protein family; x no consensus.

demonstrated that GRKs are able to bind to the scaffolding protein caveolin by a consensus caveolin-binding motif present in the pleckstrin homology (PH) domain and in the N-terminus of GRKs [98]. Interaction between GRKs and caveolin via this motif, being present in all GRKs, results in potent inhibition of GRK activity and may be necessary to suppress basal GRK activity. In this scenario, palmitoylation of GRKs could contribute to co-localization of these kinases and caveolins, which would facilitate their further protein–protein interaction.

#### 3.5. Subcellular localization of G proteins

Heterotrimeric G proteins are signaling molecules involved in the propagation of extracellular stimuli to the interior of a cell. Therefore, G proteins are targeted to the plasma membrane after transcription and lipidation in order to exert this function. Nevertheless, there is substantial evidence that these signaling molecules are additionally able to translocate to intracellular compartments upon agonist stimulation. The best characterized subunit of heterotrimeric G proteins in this sense is  $G\alpha_s$ , for which a movement from the plasma membrane to the cytosol after agonist stimulation has been demonstrated [99,100]. This internalization is not mediated by clathrin-coated vesicles, which form part of the typical internalization mechanism for most G protein-coupled receptors, including the  $\beta_2$ -adrenoceptor, although the time-course of this process is similar to that of GPCRs [101]. A study carried out in living cells indicated that  $G\alpha_s$  may be internalized via lipid rafts [102]. Furthermore, it has been shown that agonist-activated trafficking of  $G\alpha_s$  to the cytoplasm is reversible, so that the internalized G proteins are able to return to the plasma membrane when receptor activation is terminated [103]. Interestingly, a recent work provided evidence that shuttling of heterotrimeric G proteins between the plasma membrane and intracellular membranes can also take place without activation in a vesicle-independent way [104]. However, the exact intracellular trafficking pathways are still poorly understood, and there is still a debate about whether internalized  $G\alpha_s$  is truly cytosolic or remains bound to membrane vesicles within the cytosol. Apart from  $G\alpha_s$ , also  $G\alpha_t$  and  $G\alpha_q$  are able to translocate to the cell interior after stimulation. Rapid internalization of photoreceptor-specific G protein, transducin, and its redistribution from rod outer segments to other cellular compartments after activation is an important physiological adaptation mechanism to light exposure, allowing these cells to maintain their function in a much wider range of light intensity [105]. Similarly, upon activation of the angiotensin II receptor, a considerable fraction of  $G\alpha_{q/11}$  appeared in the cytosolic fraction of the cell within a few minutes [106].

Palmitoylation is the only lipid modification of most  $G\alpha$  subunits (with exception of the G<sub>i</sub> protein family, whose members are additionally myristoylated, and G<sub>t</sub>, being only myristoylated) and at the same time the main membrane anchor for these peripheral membrane proteins. These and the fact that palmitoylation is a very dynamic lipid modification has strengthened the hypothesis that palmitoylation turnover is a key mechanism in the observed movement of  $G\alpha$  subunits to the cytosol, because the loss of this hydrophobic membrane anchor through depalmitoylation could easily explain the observed translocation. Actually, it has been demonstrated that activation of  $G\alpha$  by the appropriate GPCR increases palmitate turnover [32]. Irrespective of whether depalmitoylation is responsible for cytosolic translocation, the extent of  $G\alpha_s$  depalmitoylation upon  $\beta_2$ -adrenergic receptor activation was inversely correlated with the efficacy in stimulating adenylyl cyclase, underlining the functional importance of this cellular process for signal transduction [107].

Much less information has been gathered about the activationdependent redistribution of the  $G\beta\gamma$  dimer from the plasma membrane. One study demonstrated co-localization of the  $G\beta\gamma$  dimer with  $G\alpha_s$  in small vesicular structures [101], whereas others found it associated to the Golgi complex [108] after stimulation. The extent and time course of  $\beta\gamma$ -dimer internalization varies widely, which is partly attributed to the kind of lipid modification on the gamma subunit, but also depends on its interaction with the receptor and the type of the  $G\alpha$  subunit found in the heterotrimeric complex [109,110]. In this context, a recent, very comprehensive study in living cells including all known gamma subunits, revealed that not all of these subunits are able to internalize upon agonist stimulation [111]. The subunits  $G\gamma_1$ ,  $G\gamma_9$  and  $G\gamma_{11}$  were able to rapidly translocate to the Golgi complex, whereas  $G\gamma_5$  and  $G\gamma_{10}$  moved slowly to this membrane complex. On the other hand,  $G\gamma_{13}$  translocated rapidly to the endoplasmatic reticulum. In contrast, the subunits  $G\gamma_{2-4}$ ,  $G\gamma_{7,8}$  and  $G\gamma_{12}$  did not traffic to intracellular sites after agonist stimulation.

A final conclusion concerning the physiological function of G protein internalization in cell biology would surely be premature, but most of the data gathered point to an important role in the desensitization process following GPCR activation. Besides, basal cycling of inactive heterotrimeric G proteins between cell and intracellular membranes may be essential to maintain an intracellular pool of these signaling molecules and to prepare (sensitize) the cytoplasmatic surface of cell membranes for activation. Whether subcellular localization of G proteins has more yet undiscovered functions remains to be investigated.

#### 3.6. Receptor-independent activators of G protein signaling

During recent years, alternative forms of regulating signaling through heterotrimeric G proteins have been studied, forcing us to broaden our perspective regarding the role of G proteins as "signaling switches" [112]. In this regard, several accessory proteins that can interact with G proteins independently of receptor activation have been characterized through different approaches. A direct activator of G proteins was partially purified from NG108-15 cells, which acts on both hetrotrimeric brain G protein and free  $G\alpha$  in a manner distinct to that of receptors [113]. Yeast-based screens have also identified receptor-independent activators of heterotrimeric G protein signaling [114], including the so-called activators of G protein signaling (AGS). These proteins have been classified into different groups depending on their role in signal transduction. AGS1, previously identified as a dexamethasone-inducible Ras family GTPase [115], is the only member of the first group and has been characterized as a putative guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) for  $G\alpha_i$  subunits [116] (later renamed RASD1 by the Human Genome Organization [HUGO] Gene Nomenclature Committee). This protein contains a Ras-like domain with extensions in the N- and C-terminal regions containing consensus farnesylation motifs with similar characteristics to those of G protein farnesylation [112]. Like the G protein activator partially purified from NG108-15 cells, AGS1 increases GTP $\gamma$ S binding to G $\alpha_{i1}$ and  $G\alpha_{i2}$  monomers as well as to G protein heterotrimers purified from the brain (Fig. 2). Recently, another protein called Resistant to Inhibitors of Cholinesterase 8A (Ric8A) was identified as another receptor-independent GEF that exclusively acts on free Gq/i/o  $\alpha$ subunits [117].

The second group of AGS proteins is also called GoLoco or GPR motif-containing proteins because they contain at least one GPR or GoLoco domain. These GPR motifs have been discovered within several proteins of diverse nature, such as C. elegans GPR 1/2 [118–120], Drosophila PINS [121,122] and the mammalian Purkinje cell protein-2 (Pcp2/L7) [123,124], Rap1GAPII [125,126], AGS5 (LGN or mPINS) [127-130], AGS3 [130-132], AGS4 [133,134], Wave [135], AGS6 (RGS12) and RGS14 [136,137]. AGS3-5 have been renamed by the HUGO Gene Nomenclature Committee as G protein signaling modulator (GPSM) 1-3, respectively, and PCP2 is now called GPSM4 [24]. The GPR motif is generally selective for  $G\alpha_i$  subunits in the GDPbound form, and the interaction slows the spontaneous GDP release by  $G\alpha$  and it interferes with  $G\beta\gamma$  binding to  $G\alpha_i$  [138] (Fig. 2). Thus, these proteins can behave as guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitor (GDI) for  $G\alpha$  and can accelerate the rate of heterotrimer dissociation Gαβγ.



**Fig. 2.** G protein activation by receptors and AGS proteins. (A) G protein heterotrimers (Gαβγ) can be activated by GPCRs (green), inducing the exchange of GDP by GTP. Moreover, some activators of G protein signaling (AGS1) can promote the exchange process in the abscence of receptor activation, whereas regulators of G protein signaling (RGS) and GTPase activating proteins (GAP) increase the rate of GTP hydrolization. (B) Alternatively, other G protein regulators can also activate G proteins signaling in the absence of receptor-mediated activity and without promoting nucleotide exchange.

### 3.7. Subcellular localization of GPR-containing proteins and membrane interactions

The interactions between proteins containing GPR-motifs and  $G\alpha_i$ subunits can be regulated by restricting the subcellular distribution of these proteins to specific microenvironments. In this sense, both AGS3 and AGS5 (LGN) contain a tetracopeptide (TPR) motif, a highly degenerate sequence found in a large number of proteins that serves different functions [112]. Thus, TPR motifs contribute to target the protein to different microdomains within the cell via protein-protein interactions [139]. TPR-interacting proteins can influence the subcellular localization of AGS3 and 5 and/or their interaction with  $G\alpha_i$ subunits. Neither AGS3 nor LGN have any apparent hydrophobic domains or consensus sequences for acylation that would mediate their membrane association [140]. However, the TPR regions of the Drosophila AGS3 homologue PINS play a key role in its localization to the cell membrane. Indeed, these domains are required for translocation of the protein to a specific membrane region of the neuroblast, which is achieved by the binding of the protein INSCUTEABLE to the TPR domains in PINS [121,122]. It has been shown that the correct targeting of the complex PINS-G $\alpha$ i to the apical cortex of Drosophila neuroblasts is essential to induce asymmetric cell division, a mechanism to achieve cellular diversity during development. In this context, a proper positioning of the mitotic spindle is an essential step for asymmetric division. Although the molecular bases of this mechanism are not fully understood, their spatial and temporal activation is controlled by heterotrimeric G protein signaling as well as proteins containing the GPR motif. In C. elegans, the interaction of GPR1/2 and  $G\alpha$  at the posterior cortex is critical for proper asymmetric positioning of the mitotic spindle. Furthermore, the role of the mammalian GPR proteins LGN and AGS3, G-proteins and possibly other accessory proteins, in cell division and polarity in higher organisms is still under investigation. Recent reports indicate important roles for these proteins in asymmetric cell division of neuronal precursors, retinal progenitors and epidermal cells, and in cell divisions that occur in the absence of polarity cues [112].

AGS3 is one of the best AGS proteins studied to date and two isoforms of this protein have been identified: the AGS3-long form and a truncated version named AGS3-short. The major difference between them is that AGS3-short lacks the seven TPR motifs of the aminoterminal region of AGS3-long, which affects its cellular distribution. As such, confocal microscopy studies indicate that while AGS3-short is diffusely distributed across the cytoplasm of the cell, AGS3-long adopts a punctuate distribution that reflects its localization to defined membrane microdomains. Therefore, the TPR motifs play a key role in the localization of AGS3 as further reflected by the segregation of AGSshort mostly to the cytosolic fraction following subcellular fractionation, while AGS3-long appears in both the crude membrane and cytosolic fractions. Interestingly, interaction of AGS3-short with G proteins also inhibits guanine nucleotide exchange and the translocation of AGS3-short to membranes [139].

Hence, most cellular AGS3 is cytosolic although a small subpopulation is found in membrane fractions [138,140,141]. It is not known how AGS3 associates with membranes, and while the TPR domains may be implicated as mentioned above, other possible binding partners may also participate in this process. Membrane expressed AGS3 does not appear to interfere with receptor- $G_i$  protein coupling [142] although cytosolic AGS3 can interact with membrane-associated  $G\alpha_{i1}$  subunits to remove them from their native membrane environment. Thus, cytosolic AGS3 interferes with receptor-Gi protein coupling by sequestering  $G\alpha_i$  and blocking its membrane association during reconstitution. Furthermore, cytosolic AGS3 blocks the membrane association of  $G\alpha_{i1}$  subunits, but has no effect on the membrane association of  $G\beta\gamma$  subunits. However, when cytosolic AGS3 associates with the membrane it loses the capacity to interfere with receptor-G protein coupling. Several studies indicate that assembly with  $G\beta\gamma$  drives the localization of G $\alpha$  to the plasma membrane or to specific membrane domains [25,27,28,31]. Recently, a model was described in which all three G protein subunits are synthesized in the cytosol and that G $\alpha$  and G $\beta\gamma$  bind to each other before they translocate to the plasma membrane [27]. Since AGS3 can compete with G $\beta\gamma$  subunits for G $\alpha_{i}$ , cytosolic AGS3 may disturb the assembly of G $\beta\gamma$  with G $\alpha$ subunits and thereby decrease the amount of G $\alpha$  protein at the plasma membrane, which may influence signaling pathways regulated by G $\beta\gamma$ .

The interaction of AGS3 with G proteins can be also regulated by phosphorylation of the GPR motif by the serine-threonine kinase LKB1, blocking its interaction with  $G\alpha_i$  [143]. Similarly, phosphorylation close to the GPR motif of RGS14 may influence its interaction with  $G\alpha_i$  [144]. RGS14 interacts with proteins of the heterotrimeric and monomeric G protein pathways through its multiple GPR domains [145]. In addition to its N-terminal RGS domain, RGS14 also contains a C-terminal GPR motif that acts as a GDI for  $G\alpha_{i1}$  and  $G\alpha_{i3}$  [146,147]. However, when  $G\alpha_i$  and  $G\beta\gamma$  are appropriately modified with lipids, the heterotrimer can not be disrupted by RGS14, indicating that only free  $G\alpha_i$  is a substrate for the GPR domain of RGS14. Alternatively, RGS14 might require another protein to exert its effects on heterotrimeric G proteins. The resistance of the heterotrimer to the GDI activity of RGS14 depends on the presence of lipid modifications on both the  $G\alpha_i$  and  $G\beta\gamma$  subunits. However, myristoylation of  $G\alpha$  and prenylation of  $G\gamma$  are required for the high affinity interaction of  $G\alpha$ and G $\beta\gamma$  [148,149]. In transducin (G $\alpha_t$ ), the G $\alpha$  acyl chain appears to bind co-operatively with the G<sub>γ</sub> farnesyl moiety to model membrane lipids [150]. Thus, lipid-lipid interactions also participate in the association of the subunits of oligomeric proteins by regulating their orientation, providing productive protein interaction surfaces for their final binding. Thus, in the absence of lipid-lipid interactions, the affinity of  $G\alpha$  for  $G\beta\gamma$  is reduced, enabling RGS14 to compete with  $G\beta\gamma$ . This is supported by other studies, indicating that GPR peptides are able to physically disrupt the heterotrimeric complex when G proteins lack some lipid modifications. Indeed, this occurs with a peptide derived from AGS3 that interferes with the association of the G protein heterotrimer when the  $G\alpha_i$ -subunit is not myristoylated [138]. Moreover, it has been shown that a peptide corresponding to the RGS14-GPR motif prevents the formation of heterodimers containing nonlipidated G protein subunits [151]. In other studies, using lipidated G protein subunits, a peptide derived from AGS3 has been shown to induce heterotrimeric subunit dissociation, but the excess of peptide over the G proteins used in these experiments probably does not reflect a physiological situation [152]. Overall, it seems that G protein lipid modifications also play an important role determining the effect of the GPR-containing proteins in these signaling pathways.

#### 4. Conclusions

The purpose of this review was to highlight how protein-lipid interactions of monomeric and trimeric G proteins with membranes influence their activity. We also described the role of lipid modifications and membrane lipid-protein interactions in the induction of canonical and alternative G protein signaling pathways, independent of receptor activation. During recent years, the interactions between G proteins and membranes have been shown to be involved in controlling cell signaling. These interactions also regulate the way G proteins propagate signals and add versatility to the messages received by cells. In addition, signal processing via heterotrimeric G proteins has been challenged with alternative and unexpected regulatory mechanisms based on the identification of new proteins. The functional roles associated with these new proteins identify novel areas of research that mostly remain to be addressed. GPCRs and associated proteins are important in cell signaling and human physiology, controlling important functions and influencing the etiology of some diseases. Therefore, it is not surprising that over a half of all drugs currently

under development are targeted to these receptors. In this context, membrane lipid composition and structure regulates GPCR-associated signaling and therefore, membrane lipid regulation can be used to define new therapeutic approaches such as membrane–lipid therapy [153].

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported in part by the Grants SAF2003-00232, SAF2004-05249, BFU2007-61071 (Ministerio de Educación y Ciencia, Spain), PROGECIC-3C and PCTIB-2005GC4-07 (Conselleria d'Economia, Hisenda I Innoviació, Govern Balear), PI051340 (Ministerio de Sanidad y Consumo) and by the Marathon Foundation. Oliver Vögler and Catalina Ribas are supported by the Spanish I3 Program for intensification of scientific research.

#### References

- A. Valencia, P. Chardin, A. Wittinghofer, C. Sander, The ras protein family: evolutionary tree and role of conserved amino acids, Biochemistry 30 (1991) 4637–4648.
- [2] S.L. Campbell, R. Khosravi-Far, K.L. Rossman, G.J. Clark, C.J. Der, Increasing complexity of Ras signaling, Oncogene 17 (1998) 1395–1413.
- [3] A. Ehrhardt, G.R. Ehrhardt, X. Guo, J.W. Schrader, Ras and relatives—job sharing and networking keep an old family together, Exp. Hematol. 30 (2002) 1089–1106.
- [4] J.F. Hancock, R.G. Parton, Ras plasma membrane signalling platforms, Biochem. J. 3899 (2005) 1–11.
- [5] J.F. Hancock, Ras proteins: different signals from different locations, Nat. Rev., Mol. Cell Biol. 4 (2003) 373–384.
- [6] J.F. Hancock, A.I. Magee, J.E. Childs, C.J. Marshall, All ras proteins are polyisoprenylated but only some are palmitoylated, Cell 57 (1989) 1167–1177.
- [7] J.F. Hancock, H. Paterson, C.J. Marshall, A polybasic domain or palmitoylation is required in addition to the CAAX motif to localize p21ras to the plasma membrane, Cell 63 (1990) 133–139.
- [8] J. Furuhjelm, J. Peranen, The C-terminal end of R-Ras contains a focal adhesion targeting signal, J. Cell Sci. 116 (2003) 3729–3738.
- [9] D.R. Lowy, B.M. Willumsen, Function and regulation of ras, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 62 (1993) 851–891.
- [10] D.B. Whyte, P. Kirschmeier, T.N. Hockenberry, I. Nunez-Oliva, L. James, J.J. Catino, W.R. Bishop, J.K. Pai, K- and N-Ras are geranylgeranylated in cells treated with farnesyl protein transferase inhibitors, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 14459–14464.
- [11] A.A. Siddiqui, J.R. Garland, M.B. Dalton, M. Sinensky, Evidence for a high affinity, saturable, prenylation-dependent p21Ha-ras binding site in plasma membranes, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 3712–3717.
- [12] M.A. Booden, T.L. Baker, P.A. Solski, C.J. Der, S.G. Punke, J.E. Buss, A non-farnesylated Ha-Ras protein can be palmitoylated and trigger potent differentiation and transformation, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 1423–1431.
- [13] A.J. Laude, I.A. Prior, Palmitoylation and localisation of RAS isoforms are modulated by the hypervariable linker domain, J. Cell Sci. 121 (2008) 421–427.
- [14] I.A. Prior, A. Harding, J. Yan, J. Sluimer, R.G. Parton, J.F. Hancock, GTP-dependent segregation of H-ras from lipid rafts is required for biological activity, Nat. Cell Biol. 3 (2001) 368–375.
- [15] I.A. Prior, C. Muncke, R.G. Parton, J.F. Hancock, Direct visualization of Ras proteins in spatially distinct cell surface microdomains, J. Cell Biol. 160 (2003) 165–170.
- [16] D. Abankwa, M. Hanzal-Bayer, N. Ariotti, S.J. Plowman, A.A. Gorfe, R.G. Parton, J.A. McCammon, J.F. Hancock, A novel switch region regulates H-ras membrane orientation and signal output, EMBO J. (2008).
- [17] L. Agudo-Ibañez, F. Nuñez, F. Calvo, I.M. Berenjeno, X.R. Bustelo, P. Crespo, Transcriptomal profiling of site-specific Ras signals, Cell. Signal. 19 (2007) 2264–2276.
- [18] C. Peyssonnaux, S. Provot, M.P. Felder-Schmittbuhl, G. Calothy, A. Eychene, Induction of postmitotic neuroretina cell proliferation by distinct Ras downstream signaling pathways, Mol. Cell. Biol. 20 (2000) 7068–7079.
- [19] J. Yan, S. Roy, A. Apolloni, A. Lane, J.F. Hancock, Ras isoforms vary in their ability to activate Raf-1 and phosphoinositide 3-kinase, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 24052–24056.
- [20] A.A. Adjei, Blocking oncogenic Ras signaling for cancer therapy, J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 93 (2001) 1062–1074.
- [21] C.J. Sarkisian, B.A. Keister, D.B. Stairs, R.B. Boxer, S.E. Moody, L.A. Chodosh, Dosedependent oncogene-induced senescence in vivo and its evasion during mammary tumorigenesis, Nat. Cell Biol. 9 (2007) 493–505.
- [22] B.M. Willumsen, A.D. Cox, P.A. Solski, C.J. Der, J.E. Buss, Novel determinants of H-Ras plasma membrane localization and transformation, Oncogene 13 (1996) 1901–1909.
- [23] J.E. Buss, P.A. Solski, J.P. Schaeffer, M.J. MacDonald, C.J. Der, Activation of the cellular proto-oncogene product p21Ras by addition of a myristylation signal, Science 243 (1989) 1600–1603.
- [24] C.R. McCudden, M.D. Hains, R.J. Kimple, D.P. Siderovski, F.S. Willard, G-protein signaling: back to the future, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 62 (2005) 551–577.
- [25] O. Vögler, J. Casas, D. Capó, T. Nagy, G. Borchert, G. Martorell, P.V. Escribá, The Gbetagamma dimer drives the interaction of heterotrimeric Gi proteins with nonlamellar membrane structures, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 36540–36545.

- [26] P.V. Escribá, M. Sastre, J.A. García-Sevilla, Disruption of cellular signaling pathways by daunomycin through destabilization of nonlamellar membrane structures, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92 (1995) 7595–7599.
- [27] D. Michaelson, I. Ahearn, M. Bergo, S. Young, M. Philips, Membrane trafficking of heterotrimeric G proteins via the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi, Mol. Biol. Cell 13 (2002) 3294–3302.
- [28] P.C. Sternweis, The purified alpha subunits of Go and Gi from bovine brain require beta gamma for association with phospholipid vesicles, J. Biol. Chem. 261 (1986) 631–637.
- [29] P.V. Escribá, A. Ozaita, C. Ribas, A. Miralles, E. Fodor, T. Farkas, J.A. García-Sevilla, Role of lipid polymorphism in G protein-membrane interactions: nonlamellarprone phospholipids and peripheral protein binding to membranes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 94 (1997) 11375–11380.
- [30] F. Barceló, J. Prades, J.A. Encinar, S.S. Funari, O. Vögler, J.M. Gonzalez-Ros, P.V. Escribá, Interaction of the C-terminal region of the Ggamma protein with model membranes, Biophys. J. 93 (2007) 2530–2541.
- [31] C.S. Fishburn, S.K. Pollitt, H.R. Bourne, Localization of a peripheral membrane protein: Gbetagamma targets Galpha(Z), Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97 (2000) 1085–1090.
- [32] S.M. Mumby, C. Kleuss, A.G. Gilman, Receptor regulation of G-protein palmitoylation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 91 (1994) 2800–2804.
- [33] M.A. Grassie, J.F. McCallum, F. Guzzi, A.I. Magee, G. Milligan, M. Parenti, The palmitoylation status of the G-protein G(o)1 alpha regulates its activity of interaction with the plasma membrane, Biochem. J. 302 (Pt 3) (1994) 913–920.
- [34] F. Galbiati, F. Guzzi, A.I. Magee, G. Milligan, M. Parenti, N-terminal fatty acylation of the alpha-subunit of the G-protein Gi1: only the myristoylated protein is a substrate for palmitoylation, Biochem. J. 303 (Pt 3) (1994) 697–700.
- [35] S. Moffett, D.A. Brown, M.E. Linder, Lipid-dependent targeting of G proteins into rafts, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 2191–2198.
- [36] O. Kisselev, M. Ermolaeva, N. Gautam, Efficient interaction with a receptor requires a specific type of prenyl group on the G protein gamma subunit, J. Biol. Chem. 270 (1995) 25356–25358.
- [37] C.S. Myung, H. Yasuda, W.W. Liu, T.K. Harden, J.C. Garrison, Role of isoprenoid lipids on the heterotrimeric G protein gamma subunit in determining effector activation, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 16595–16603.
- [38] H.G. Dohlman, J. Song, D. Ma, W.E. Courchesne, J. Thorner, Sst2, a negative regulator of pheromone signaling in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae: expression, localization, and genetic interaction and physical association with Gpa1 (the G-protein alpha subunit), Mol. Cell. Biol. 16 (1996) 5194–5209.
- [39] P.B. Wedegaertner, P.T. Wilson, H.R. Bourne, Lipid modifications of trimeric G proteins, J. Biol. Chem. 270 (1995) 503–506.
- [40] T.A. Farazi, G. Waksman, J.I. Gordon, The biology and enzymology of protein Nmyristoylation, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 39501–39504.
- [41] S. Maurer-Stroh, B. Eisenhaber, F. Eisenhaber, N-terminal N-myristoylation of proteins: refinement of the sequence motif and its taxon-specific differences, J. Mol. Biol. 317 (2002) 523–540.
- [42] R.S. Bhatnagar, O.F. Schall, E. Jackson-Machelski, J.A. Sikorski, B. Devadas, G.W. Gokel, J.I. Gordon, Titration calorimetric analysis of AcylCoA recognition by myristoylCoA: protein N-myristoyltransferase, Biochemistry 36 (1997) 6700–6708.
- [43] K. Kokame, Y. Fukada, T. Yoshizawa, T. Takao, Y. Shimonishi, Lipid modification at the N terminus of photoreceptor G-protein alpha-subunit, Nature 359 (1992) 749–752.
- [44] T.A. Neubert, R.S. Johnson, J.B. Hurley, K.A. Walsh, The rod transducin alpha subunit amino terminus is heterogeneously fatty acylated, J. Biol. Chem. 267 (1992) 18274–18277.
- [45] T.L. Jones, W.F. Simonds, J.J. Merendino Jr., M.R. Brann, A.M. Spiegel, Myristoylation of an inhibitory GTP-binding protein alpha subunit is essential for its membrane attachment, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 87 (1990) 568–572.
- [46] S.M. Mumby, R.O. Heukeroth, J.I. Gordon, A.G. Gilman, G-protein alpha-subunit expression, myristoylation, and membrane association in COS cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 87 (1990) 728–732.
- [47] R.M. Peitzsch, S. McLaughlin, Binding of acylated peptides and fatty acids to phospholipid vesicles: pertinence to myristoylated proteins, Biochemistry 32 (1993) 10436–10443.
- [48] F. Galbiati, D. Volonte, D. Meani, G. Milligan, D.M. Lublin, M.P. Lisanti, M. Parenti, The dually acylated NH2-terminal domain of gi1alpha is sufficient to target a green fluorescent protein reporter to caveolin-enriched plasma membrane domains. Palmitoylation of caveolin-1 is required for the recognition of dually acylated g-protein alpha subunits in vivo, I. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 5843–5850.
- [49] A.M. Preininger, N. Van Eps, N.J. Yu, M. Medkova, W.L. Hubbell, H.E. Hamm, The myristoylated amino terminus of Galpha(i)(1) plays a critical role in the structure and function of Galpha(i)(1) subunits in solution, Biochemistry 42 (2003) 7931–7941.
- [50] M.Y. Degtyarev, A.M. Spiegel, T.L. Jones, Increased palmitoylation of the Gs protein alpha subunit after activation by the beta-adrenergic receptor or cholera toxin, J. Biol. Chem. 268 (1993) 23769–23772.
- [51] T.P. Loisel, L. Adam, T.E. Hebert, M. Bouvier, Agonist stimulation increases the turnover rate of beta 2AR-bound palmitate and promotes receptor depalmitoylation, Biochemistry 35 (1996) 15923–15932.
- [52] P.V. Escriba, P.B. Wedegaertner, F.M. Goni, O. Vogler, Lipid-protein interactions in GPCR-associated signaling, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1768 (2007) 836–852.
- [53] C. Kleuss, E. Krause, Galpha(s) is palmitoylated at the N-terminal glycine, EMBO J. 22 (2003) 826–832.
- [54] C. Kleuss, A.G. Gilman, Gsalpha contains an unidentified covalent modification that increases its affinity for adenylyl cyclase, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 94 (1997) 6116–6120.

- [55] M.O. Parat, P.L. Fox, Palmitoylation of caveolin-1 in endothelial cells is posttranslational but irreversible, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 15776–15782.
- [56] M.B. Omary, I.S. Trowbridge, Covalent binding of fatty acid to the transferrin receptor in cultured human cells, J. Biol. Chem. 256 (1981) 4715–4718.
- [57] M. Berger, M.F. Schmidt, Protein fatty acyltransferase is located in the rough endoplasmic reticulum, FEBS Lett. 187 (1985) 289–294.
- [58] S. Bonatti, G. Migliaccio, K. Simons, Palmitylation of viral membrane glycoproteins takes place after exit from the endoplasmic reticulum, J. Biol. Chem. 264 (1989) 12590–12595.
- [59] R.C. Drisdel, E. Manzana, W.N. Green, The role of palmitoylation in functional expression of nicotinic alpha7 receptors, J. Neurosci. 24 (2004) 10502–10510.
  [60] D.S. Evanko, M.M. Thiyagarajan, P.B. Wedegaertner, Interaction with Gbeta-
- [60] D.S. Evanko, M.M. Thiyagarajan, P.B. Wedegaertner, Interaction with Gbetagamma is required for membrane targeting and palmitoylation of Galpha(s) and Galpha(q), J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 1327–1336.
- [61] C.S. Fishburn, P. Herzmark, J. Morales, H.R. Bourne, Gbetagamma and palmitate target newly synthesized Galphaz to the plasma membrane, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 18793–18800.
- [62] S. Takida, P.B. Wedegaertner, Exocytic pathway-independent plasma membrane targeting of heterotrimeric G proteins, FEBS Lett. 567 (2004) 209–213.
- [63] J.B. Higgins, P.J. Casey, The role of prenylation in G-protein assembly and function, Cell. Signal. 8 (1996) 433–437.
- [64] V.L. Boyartchuk, M.N. Ashby, J. Rine, Modulation of Ras and a-factor function by carboxyl-terminal proteolysis, Science 275 (1997) 1796–1800.
- [65] Q. Dai, E. Choy, V. Chiu, J. Romano, S.R. Slivka, S.A. Steitz, S. Michaelis, M.R. Philips, Mammalian prenylcysteine carboxyl methyltransferase is in the endoplasmic reticulum, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 15030–15034.
- [66] S. Takida, P.B. Wedegaertner, Heterotrimer formation, together with isoprenylation, is required for plasma membrane targeting of Gbetagamma, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 17284–17290.
- [67] D.A. Vessey, D. Zakim, Membrane fluidity and the regulation of membrane-bound enzymes, Horiz. Biochem. Biophys. 1 (1974) 138–174.
- [68] D. Chapman, P.J. Quinn, A method for the modulation of membrane fluidity: homogeneous catalytic hydrogenation of phospholipids and phospholipids and phospholipid–water model biomembranes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 73 (1976) 3971–3975.
- [69] K.M. Goebel, J. Schneider, Erythrocyte membrane fluidity, lipid peroxidation and lysis in alcoholic liver disease, Acta Biol. Med. Ger. 40 (1981) 571–576.
- [70] E. Berlin, E.J. Matusik Jr., C. Young Jr., Effect of dietary fat on the fluidity of platelet membranes, Lipids 15 (1980) 604–608.
- [71] K. Wells, A.A. Farooqui, L. Liss, L.A. Horrocks, Neural membrane phospholipids in Alzheimer disease, Neurochem. Res. 20 (1995) 1329–1333.
- [72] J. Zicha, J. Kunes, M.A. Devynck, Abnormalities of membrane function and lipid metabolism in hypertension: a review, Am. J. Hypertens. 12 (1999) 315–331.
- [73] S. Yang, L. Zhang, Y. Huang, Membrane association and conformational change of palmitoylated G(o)alpha, FEBS Lett. 498 (2001) 76–81.
- [74] G. Basañez, J.L. Nieva, F.M. Goñi, A. Alonso, Origin of the lag period in the phospholipase C cleavage of phospholipids in membranes. Concomitant vesicle aggregation and enzyme activation, Biochemistry 35 (1996) 15183–15187.
- [75] P.R. Cullis, M.J. Hope, in: D.E. Vance, J. Vance (Eds.), Biochemistry of Lipids, Lipoproteins, and Membranes, Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam, 1991, pp. 1–41.
- [76] W.R. Perkins, R.B. Dause, R.A. Parente, S.R. Minchey, K.C. Neuman, S.M. Gruner, T.F. Taraschi, A.S. Janoff, Role of lipid polymorphism in pulmonary surfactant, Science 273 (1996) 330–332.
- [77] R.R. Neubig, R.D. Gantzos, W.J. Thomsen, Mechanism of agonist and antagonist binding to alpha 2 adrenergic receptors: evidence for a precoupled receptorguanine nucleotide protein complex, Biochemistry 27 (1988) 2374–2384.
- [78] P.C. van der Wel, T. Pott, S. Morein, D.V. Greathouse, R.E. Koeppe II, J.A. Killian, Tryptophan-anchored transmembrane peptides promote formation of nonlamellar phases in phosphatidylethanolamine model membranes in a mismatchdependent manner, Biochemistry 39 (2000) 3124–3133.
- [79] A.V. Botelho, N.J. Gibson, R.L. Thurmond, Y. Wang, M.F. Brown, Conformational energetics of rhodopsin modulated by nonlamellar-forming lipids, Biochemistry 41 (2002) 6354–6368.
- [80] I.D. Alves, G.F. Salgado, Z. Salamon, M.F. Brown, G. Tollin, V.J. Hruby, Phosphatidylethanolamine enhances rhodopsin photoactivation and transducin binding in a solid supported lipid bilayer as determined using plasmonwaveguide resonance spectroscopy, Biophys. J. 88 (2005) 198–210.
- [81] S.E. Feller, K. Gawrisch, Properties of docosahexaenoic-acid-containing lipids and their influence on the function of rhodopsin, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 15 (2005) 416–422.
- [82] E. Hessel, P. Muller, A. Herrmann, K.P. Hofmann, Light-induced reorganization of phospholipids in rod disc membranes, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 2538–2543.
- [83] E.J. Smart, G.A. Graf, M.A. McNiven, W.C. Sessa, J.A. Engelman, P.E. Scherer, T. Okamoto, M.P. Lisanti, Caveolins, liquid-ordered domains, and signal transduction, Mol. Cell. Biol. 19 (1999) 7289–7304.
- [84] V.O. Rybin, X. Xu, M.P. Lisanti, S.F. Steinberg, Differential targeting of betaadrenergic receptor subtypes and adenylyl cyclase to cardiomyocyte caveolae. A mechanism to functionally regulate the cAMP signaling pathway, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 41447–41457.
- [85] Y. Xiang, V.O. Rybin, S.F. Steinberg, B. Kobilka, Caveolar localization dictates physiologic signaling of beta 2-adrenoceptors in neonatal cardiac myocytes, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 34280–34286.
- [86] M. Sato, D.S. Hutchinson, B.A. Evans, R.J. Summers, Functional domains of the mouse beta(3)-adrenoceptor associated with differential G-protein coupling, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 35 (2007) 1035–1037.

- [87] M. Sato, D.S. Hutchinson, T. Bengtsson, A. Floren, U. Langel, T. Horinouchi, B.A. Evans, R.J. Summers, Functional domains of the mouse beta3-adrenoceptor associated with differential G protein coupling, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 315 (2005) 1354–1361.
- [88] S. Bodin, S. Giuriato, J. Ragab, B.M. Humbel, C. Viala, C. Vieu, H. Chap, B. Payrastre, Production of phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate and phosphatidic acid in platelet rafts: evidence for a critical role of cholesterol-enriched domains in human platelet activation, Biochemistry 40 (2001) 15290–15299.
- [89] K.S. Nair, N. Balasubramanian, V.Z. Slepak, Signal-dependent translocation of transducin, RGS9-1-Gbeta5L complex, and arrestin to detergent-resistant membrane rafts in photoreceptors, Curr. Biol. 12 (2002) 421–425.
- [90] P. Oh, J.E. Schnitzer, Segregation of heterotrimeric G proteins in cell surface microdomains. G(q) binds caveolin to concentrate in caveolae, whereas G(i) and G(s) target lipid rafts by default, Mol. Biol. Cell. 12 (2001) 685–698.
- [91] C. Huang, J.R. Hepler, L.T. Chen, A.G. Gilman, R.G. Anderson, S.M. Mumby, Organization of G proteins and adenylyl cyclase at the plasma membrane, Mol. Biol. Cell. 8 (1997) 2365–2378.
- [92] K.A. Melkonian, A.G. Ostermeyer, J.Z. Chen, M.G. Roth, D.A. Brown, Role of lipid modifications in targeting proteins to detergent-resistant membrane rafts. Many raft proteins are acylated, while few are prenylated, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 3910–3917.
- [93] S.S. Funari, J. Prades, P.V. Escribá, F. Barceló, Farnesol and geranylgeraniol modulate the structural properties of phosphatidylethanolamine model membranes, Mol. Membr. Biol. 22 (2005) 303–311.
- [94] S.K. DebBurman, J. Ptasienski, E. Boetticher, J.W. Lomasney, J.L. Benovic, M.M. Hosey, Lipid-mediated regulation of G protein-coupled receptor kinases 2 and 3, J. Biol. Chem. 270 (1995) 5742–5747.
- [95] J. Inglese, W.J. Koch, M.G. Caron, R.J. Lefkowitz, Isoprenylation in regulation of signal transduction by G-protein-coupled receptor kinases, Nature 359 (1992) 147–150.
- [96] R.T. Premont, A.D. Macrae, R.H. Stoffel, N. Chung, J.A. Pitcher, C. Ambrose, J. Inglese, M.E. MacDonald, R.J. Lefkowitz, Characterization of the G proteincoupled receptor kinase GRK4. Identification of four splice variants, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 6403–6410.
- [97] R.H. Stoffel, R.R. Randall, R.T. Premont, R.J. Lefkowitz, J. Inglese, Palmitoylation of G protein-coupled receptor kinase, GRK6. Lipid modification diversity in the GRK family, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 27791–27794.
- [98] C.V. Carman, M.P. Lisanti, J.L. Benovic, Regulation of G protein-coupled receptor kinases by caveolin, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 8858–8864.
- [99] L.A. Ransnas, P. Svoboda, J.R. Jasper, P.A. Insel, Stimulation of beta-adrenergic receptors of S49 lymphoma cells redistributes the alpha subunit of the stimulatory G protein between cytosol and membranes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 86 (1989) 7900–7903.
- [100] J.Z. Yu, M.M. Rasenick, Real-time visualization of a fluorescent G(alpha)(s): dissociation of the activated G protein from plasma membrane, Mol. Pharmacol. 61 (2002) 352–359.
- [101] T.R. Hynes, S.M. Mervine, E.A. Yost, J.L. Sabo, C.H. Berlot, Live cell imaging of Gs and the beta2-adrenergic receptor demonstrates that both alphas and beta1gamma7 internalize upon stimulation and exhibit similar trafficking patterns that differ from that of the beta2-adrenergic receptor, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 44101–44112.
- [102] J.A. Allen, J.Z. Yu, R.J. Donati, M.M. Rasenick, Beta-adrenergic receptor stimulation promotes G alpha s internalization through lipid rafts: a study in living cells, Mol. Pharmacol. 67 (2005) 1493–1504.
- [103] P.B. Wedegaertner, H.R. Bourne, M. von Zastrow, Activation-induced subcellular redistribution of Gs alpha, Mol. Biol. Cell. 7 (1996) 1225–1233.
- [104] M. Chisari, D.K. Saini, V. Kalyanaraman, N. Gautam, Shuttling of G protein subunits between the plasma membrane and intracellular membranes, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 24092–24098.
- [105] M. Sokolov, A.L. Lyubarsky, K.J. Strissel, A.B. Savchenko, V.I. Govardovskii, E.N. Pugh Jr., V.Y. Arshavsky, Massive light-driven translocation of transducin between the two major compartaells: a novel mechanism of light adaptation, Neuron 34 (2002) 95–106.
- [106] S. Miserey-Lenkei, Z. Lenkei, C. Parnot, P. Corvol, E. Clauser, A functional enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP)-tagged angiotensin II at(1a) receptor recruits the endogenous Galphaq/11 protein to the membrane and induces its specific internalization independently of receptor-g protein coupling in HEK-293 cells, Mol. Endocrinol. 15 (2001) 294–307.
- [107] T.P. Loisel, H. Ansanay, L. Adam, S. Marullo, R. Seifert, M. Lagace, M. Bouvier, Activation of the beta(2)-adrenergic receptor-Galpha(s) complex leads to rapid depalmitoylation and inhibition of repalmitoylation of both the receptor and Galpha(s), J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 31014–31019.
- [108] M. Akgoz, V. Kalyanaraman, N. Gautam, Receptor-mediated reversible translocation of the G protein betagamma complex from the plasma membrane to the Golgi complex, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 51541–51544.
- [109] M. Akgoz, V. Kalyanaraman, N. Gautam, G protein betagamma complex translocation from plasma membrane to Golgi complex is influenced by receptor gamma subunit interaction, Cell. Signal. 18 (2006) 1758–1768.
- [110] I. Azpiazu, M. Akgoz, V. Kalyanaraman, N. Gautam, G protein betagamma11 complex translocation is induced by Gi, Gq and Gs coupling receptors and is regulated by the alpha subunit type, Cell. Signal. 18 (2006) 1190–1200.
- [111] D.K. Saini, V. Kalyanaraman, M. Chisari, N. Gautam, A family of G protein betagamma subunits translocate reversibly from the plasma membrane to endomembranes on receptor activation, J. Biol. Chem. 282 (2007) 24099–24108.
- [112] J.B. Blumer, A.V. Smrcka, S.M. Lanier, Mechanistic pathways and biological roles for receptor-independent activators of G-protein signaling, Pharmacol. Ther. 113 (2007) 488–506.

- [113] C. Ribas, A. Takesono, M. Sato, J.D. Hildebrandt, S.M. Lanier, Pertussis toxininsensitive activation of the heterotrimeric G-proteins Gi/Go by the NG108-15 G-protein activator, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 50223–50225.
- [114] M.J. Cismowski, A. Takesono, C. Ma, J.S. Lizano, X. Xie, H. Fuernkranz, S.M. Lanier, E. Duzic, Genetic screens in yeast to identify mammalian nonreceptor modulators of G-protein signaling, Nat. Biotechnol. 17 (1999) 878–883.
- [115] R.J. Kemppainen, E.N. Behrend, Dexamethasone rapidly induces a novel ras superfamily member-related gene in AtT-20 cells, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 3129–3131.
- [116] M.J. Cismowski, C. Ma, C. Ribas, X. Xie, M. Spruyt, J.S. Lizano, S.M. Lanier, E. Duzic, Activation of heterotrimeric G-protein signaling by a ras-related protein. Implications for signal integration, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 23421–23424.
- [117] G.G. Tall, A.M. Krumins, A.G. Gilman, Mammalian Ric-8A (synembryn) is a heterotrimeric Galpha protein guanine nucleotide exchange factor, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 8356–8362.
- [118] K. Colombo, S.W. Grill, R.J. Kimple, F.S. Willard, D.P. Siderovski, P. Gonczy, Translation of polarity cues into asymmetric spindle positioning in *Caenorhabditis elegans* embryos, Science 300 (2003) 1957–1961.
- [119] M. Gotta, Y. Dong, Y.K. Peterson, S.M. Lanier, J. Ahringer, Asymmetrically distributed *C. elegans* homologs of AGS3/PINS control spindle position in the early embryo, Curr. Biol. 13 (2003) 1029–1037.
- [120] D.G. Srinivasan, R.M. Fisk, H. Xu, S. van den Heuvel, A complex of LIN-5 and GPR proteins regulates G protein signaling and spindle function in *C. elegans*, Genes Dev. 17 (2003) 1225–1239.
- [121] M. Schaefer, A. Shevchenko, A. Shevchenko, J.A. Knoblich, A protein complex containing Inscuteable and the Galpha-binding protein Pins orients asymmetric cell divisions in *Drosophila*, Curr. Biol. 10 (2000) 353–362.
- [122] F. Yu, X. Morin, Y. Cai, X. Yang, W. Chia, Analysis of partner of inscuteable, a novel player of *Drosophila* asymmetric divisions, reveals two distinct steps in inscuteable apical localization, Cell 100 (2000) 399–409.
- [123] Y. Luo, B.M. Denker, Interaction of heterotrimeric G protein Galphao with Purkinje cell protein-2. Evidence for a novel nucleotide exchange factor, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 10685–10688.
- [124] X. Zhang, H. Zhang, J. Oberdick, Conservation of the developmentally regulated dendritic localization of a Purkinje cell-specific mRNA that encodes a G-protein modulator: comparison of rodent and human Pcp2(L7) gene structure and expression, Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 105 (2002) 1–10.
- [125] J. Meng, J.L. Glick, P. Polakis, P.J. Casey, Functional interaction between Galpha(z) and Rap1GAP suggests a novel form of cellular cross-talk, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 36663–36669.
- [126] N. Mochizuki, Y. Ohba, E. Kiyokawa, T. Kurata, T. Murakami, T. Ozaki, A. Kitabatake, K. Nagashima, M. Matsuda, Activation of the ERK/MAPK pathway by an isoform of rap1GAP associated with G alpha(i), Nature 400 (1999) 891–894.
- [127] N. Mochizuki, G. Cho, B. Wen, P.A. Insel, Identification and cDNA cloning of a novel human mosaic protein, LGN, based on interaction with G alpha i2, Gene 181 (1996) 39–43.
- [128] M. Natochin, K.G. Gasimov, N.O. Artemyev, Inhibition of GDP/GTP exchange on G alpha subunits by proteins containing G-protein regulatory motifs, Biochemistry 40 (2001) 5322–5328.
- [129] Q. Du, L. Taylor, D.A. Compton, I.G. Macara, LGN blocks the ability of NuMA to bind and stabilize microtubules. A mechanism for mitotic spindle assembly regulation, Curr. Biol. 12 (2002) 1928–1933.
- [130] M. Natochin, B. Lester, Y.K. Peterson, M.L. Bernard, S.M. Lanier, N.O. Artemyev, AGS3 inhibits GDP dissociation from galpha subunits of the Gi family and rhodopsin-dependent activation of transducin, J. Biol. Chem. 275 (2000) 40981–40985.
- [131] A. Takesono, M.J. Cismowski, C. Ribas, M. Bernard, P. Chung, S. Hazard III, E. Duzic, S.M. Lanier, Receptor-independent activators of heterotrimeric G-protein signaling pathways, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 33202–33205.
- [132] A. Adhikari, S.R. Sprang, Thermodynamic characterization of the binding of activator of G protein signaling 3 (AGS3) and peptides derived from AGS3 with G alpha i1, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 51825–51832.
- [133] R.J. Kimple, F.S. Willard, M.D. Hains, M.B. Jones, G.K. Nweke, D.P. Siderovski, Guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitor activity of the triple GoLoco motif protein G18: alanine-to-aspartate mutation restores function to an inactive second GoLoco motif, Biochem. J. 378 (2004) 801–808.
- [134] X. Cao, M.J. Cismowski, M. Sato, J.B. Blumer, S.M. Lanier, Identification and characterization of AGS4: a protein containing three G-protein regulatory motifs that regulate the activation state of Gialpha, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 27567–27574.
- [135] K.S. Song, Y.K. Peterson, A. Freidman, J.B. Blumer, M. Sato, S.M. Lanier, Identification and characterization of a G-protein regulatory motif in WAVE1, FEBS Lett. 580 (2006) 1993–1998.
- [136] J.B. Blumer, M.J. Cismowski, M. Sato, S.M. Lanier, AGS proteins: receptorindependent activators of G-protein signaling, Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 26 (2005) 470–476.
- [137] M. Sato, J.B. Blumer, V. Simon, S.M. Lanier, Accessory proteins for G proteins: partners in signaling, Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 46 (2006) 151–187.
- [138] M.L. Bernard, Y.K. Peterson, P. Chung, J. Jourdan, S.M. Lanier, Selective interaction of AGS3 with G-proteins and the influence of AGS3 on the activation state of G-proteins, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 1585–1593.
- [139] N. Pizzinat, A. Takesono, S.M. Lanier, Identification of a truncated form of the G-protein regulator AGS3 in heart that lacks the tetratricopeptide repeat domains, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 16601–16610.
- [140] J.B. Blumer, L.J. Chandler, S.M. Lanier, Expression analysis and subcellular distribution of the two G-protein regulators AGS3 and LGN indicate distinct

functionality. Localization of LGN to the midbody during cytokinesis, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 15897–15903.

- [141] L. De Vries, T. Fischer, H. Tronchere, G.M. Brothers, B. Strockbine, D.P. Siderovski, M.G. Farquhar, Activator of G protein signaling 3 is a guanine dissociation inhibitor for Galpha i subunits, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97 (2000) 14364–14369.
- [142] H. Ma, Y.K. Peterson, M.L. Bernard, S.M. Lanier, S.G. Graber, Influence of cytosolic AGS3 on receptor-G protein coupling, Biochemistry 42 (2003) 8085–8093.
- [143] J.B. Blumer, M.L. Bernard, Y.K. Peterson, J. Nezu, P. Chung, D.J. Dunican, J.A. Knoblich, S.M. Lanier, Interaction of activator of G-protein signaling 3 (AGS3) with LKB1, a serine/threonine kinase involved in cell polarity and cell cycle progression: phosphorylation of the G-protein regulatory (GPR) motif as a regulatory mechanism for the interaction of GPR motifs with Gi alpha, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 23217–23220.
- [144] S. Hollinger, S. Ramineni, J.R. Hepler, Phosphorylation of RGS14 by protein kinase A potentiates its activity toward G alpha i, Biochemistry 42 (2003) 811–819.
- [145] S. Traver, C. Bidot, N. Spassky, T. Baltauss, M.F. De Tand, J.L. Thomas, B. Zalc, I. Janoueix-Lerosey, J.D. Gunzburg, RGS14 is a novel Rap effector that preferentially regulates the GTPase activity of galphao, Biochem. J. 350. Pt. 1 (2000) 19–29.
- [146] R.J. Kimple, L. De Vries, H. Tronchere, C.I. Behe, R.A. Morris, M. Gist Farquhar, D.P. Siderovski, RGS12 and RGS14 GoLoco motifs are G alpha(i) interaction sites with

guanine nucleotide dissociation inhibitor Activity, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 29275-29281.

- [147] V. Mittal, M.E. Linder, The RGS14 GoLoco domain discriminates among Galphai isoforms, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 46772–46778.
- [148] J.A. Iniguez-Lluhi, M.I. Simon, J.D. Robishaw, A.G. Gilman, G protein beta gamma subunits synthesized in Sf9 cells. Functional characterization and the significance of prenylation of gamma, J. Biol. Chem. 267 (1992) 23409–23417.
- [149] M.E. Linder, I.H. Pang, R.J. Duronio, J.I. Gordon, P.C. Sternweis, A.G. Gilman, Lipid modifications of G protein subunits. Myristoylation of Go alpha increases its affinity for beta gamma, J. Biol. Chem. 266 (1991) 4654–4659.
- [150] J. Bigay, E. Faurobert, M. Franco, M. Chabre, Roles of lipid modifications of transducin subunits in their GDP-dependent association and membrane binding, Biochemistry 33 (1994) 14081–14090.
- [151] C.K. Webb, C.R. McCudden, F.S. Willard, R.J. Kimple, D.P. Siderovski, G.S. Oxford, D2 dopamine receptor activation of potassium channels is selectively decoupled by Galpha-specific GoLoco motif peptides, J. Neurochem. 92 (2005) 1408–1418.
- [152] M. Ghosh, Y.K. Peterson, S.M. Lanier, A.V. Smrcka, Receptor- and nucleotide exchange-independent mechanisms for promoting G protein subunit dissociation, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 34747–34750.
- [153] P.V. Escribá, Membrane-lipid therapy: a new approach in molecular medicine, Trends Mol. Med. 12 (2006) 34–43.